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2024 10

43,840,304.95 96.90
1,401,300.40 3.10
45,241,605.35
100.00
4,563
30 2024 10
AUSTRALIA AND NEW
ZEALAND BANKING 76,279 | 23.223| 1,771,419.75| 31.150| 2,376,090.85| 5.25
GROUP AU LINE
TELSTRA GROUP
616,449 | 3.312| 2,041,804.48| 3.820| 2,354,835.18| 5.21
LIMITED AUD
MEDIBANK PRIVATE
632,090 2.951| 1,865,199.59| 3.590| 2,269,203.10| 5.02
LTD AUD
AURIZON HLDGS AU
LINE 593,861 | 3.997| 2,373,447.70| 3.380| 2,007,250.18 | 4.44
SCENTRE GROUP LTD
AUD 567,331| 2.522| 1,430,996.40| 3.510| 1,991,331.81| 4.40
APA GROUP AUD 250,171| 9.194] 2,300,078.54| 6.970| 1,743,691.87| 3.85
QBE INSURANCE
101,161 | 13.059| 1,321,065.48| 17.210| 1,740,980.81| 3.85
GROUP LTD AUD
SUNCORP GROUP LTD
AUD 91,251 | 10.605 967,724.451 17.920 | 1,635,217.92| 3.61
TRANSURBAN GROUP
AUD 123,247 12.799| 1,577,417.00| 12.710| 1,566,469.37 | 3.46
10 | BHP GROUP LTD AUD 35,799 | 41.050| 1,469,534.12| 42.640| 1,526,469.36| 3.37
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
11 35,088 | 25.468 893,607.96 | 38.800 | 1,361,414.40| 3.01
BANK AU LINE
ATLAS ARTERIA
12 269,418 | 6.429] 1,732,199.99| 4.880| 1,314,759.84| 2.91
STAPLED AUD
AGL ENERGY LTD AUD
13 LINE 119,151 | 15.097| 1,798,851.03| 10.480| 1,248,702.48| 2.76
COLES GROUP LTD
14 AUD 61,821] 17.169| 1,061,431.40| 17.590| 1,087,431.39| 2.40
VENTIA SERVICES
15 220,605| 3.021 666,490.39| 4.590| 1,012,576.95| 2.24
GROUP PTY LTD AUD
WESTPAC BANKING
16 27,658 | 21.965 607,515.66 | 32.120 888,374.96| 1.96
CORP AUD
RIO TINTO LTD AU
17 LINE 7,417 1109.421 811,575.02 |119.310 884,922.27| 1.96
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VICINITY CENTRES

18 AUD 399,185 1.716 684,855.87| 2.180 870,223.30 | 1.92
LOTTERY CORP LTD

19 AUD 172,345 3.946 680,071.23 | 4.990 860,001.55| 1.90
JB HI FI LTD AU

20 LINE 10,222 | 46.996 480,390.31 | 82.030 838,510.66| 1.85
INSIGNIA FINANCIAL

21 241,203 | 3.206 773,206.78 | 3.310 798,381.93| 1.76
LTD AUD

22 | DOWNER EDI LTD AUD 141,670 4.901 694,305.11| 5.610 794,768.70| 1.76
INSURANCE

23 | AUSTRALIA GROUP 103,102 | 4.925 507,738.72| 7.500 773,265.00| 1.71
AUD
BRAMBLES LTD AU

24 LINE 41,341 | 15.674 647,961.17 | 18.360 759,020.76| 1.68
MACQUARIE GROUP

25 3,259 |145.554 474,359.99 |1231.510 754,491.09| 1.67
LTD AUD

26 | ORORA LTD AUD 310,928 | 2.603 809,438.71| 2.410 749,336.48 | 1.66

27 | SOUTH32 LTD AUD 197,118 3.597 709,058.69| 3.680 725,394.241 1.60
HARVEY NORMAN

28 157,031 | 4.365 685,497.67| 4.580 719,201.98 | 1.59
HLDGS LTD AUD
WOOLWORTHS GROUP

29 23,494 33.085 777,301.41| 29.960 703,880.24 | 1.56
LTD AUD

30 | GPT AUD STAPLED 142,114 4.069 578,209.95| 4.740 673,620.36 | 1.49

2024 10

2024 10
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103,601,504.00 10,448,212 105.48 10,638

2017
74,608,653.00 7,524,283 106.36 10,726

2018
76,836,412.00 7,748,952 107.16 10,807

2019
109,523,671.00 11,045,462 85.97 8,670

2020
97,249,378.00 9,807,600 101.61 10,247

2021
58,337,951.00 5,883,382 94._67 9,547

2022
53,721,418.00 5,417,805 95.30 9,611

2023
45,475,631.00 4,586,217 96.00 9,682

2024
2023 11 45,516,009.39 4,590,290 88.30 8,905
12 47,764,921.00 4,817,092 93.02 9,381
2024 47,892,771.12 4,829,986 94.55 9,535
48,413,033.81 4,882,454 96.19 9,701
49,696,699.43 5,011,912 99.79 10,064
46,266,427.82 4,665,969 95.41 9,622
45,415,832.71 4,580,187 94.84 9,565
45,475,631.00 4,586,217 96.00 9,682
45,141,878.21 4,552,558 96.09 9,691
44,617,922.58 4,499,717 96.38 9,720
45,359,820.24 4,574,538 98.54 9,938
10 45,241,605.35 4,562,616 95.93 9,675
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5.48

3.39

5.82

15.17

21.76

2.36

7.33

5.76

100x

100.00
1,215,026 232,814 982,212
(1,215,026) (232,814) (982,212)
142,056 422,813 701,455
(142,056) (422,813) (701,455)
280,185 264,595 717,045
(280, 185) (264,595) (717,045)
771,918 215,001 1,273,962
(771,918) (215,001) (1,273,962)
340,173 657,021 957,114
(340,173) (657,021) (957,114)
42,105 382,966 616,253
(42,105) (382,966) (616,253)
19,594 72,147 563,700
(19,594) (72,147) (563,700)
11,749 101,732 473,717
(11,749) (101,732) (473,717)
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2024 30
2024 30
2024
41,882,030
2,3 45,130,206 4,551,381
2 489,534 49,370
208,339 21,011
1,038 105
45,829,117 4,621,866
52,449 5,289
6 301,037 30,360
353,486 35,649
45,475,631 4,586,217
NAV
45,475,631

473,717 96.00 9,682
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2024 30
2024
387,830 2,209,331 222,811
12,529 1,264
2,221,860 224,075
36,199 3,651
11,932 1,203
348,714 35,168
49,101 4,952
9,546 963
334,384 33,723
33,347 3,363
47,730 4,814
11,875 1,198
46,203 4,660
929,031 93,693
1,292,829 130,382
2,008,640 211,648
(613,029) (61,824)
1,485,611 149,824

2,778,440 280,206
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30
2024
1,292,829 130,382
2,098,640 211,648
(613,029) (61,824)
2,778,440 280,206
(2,700,123) (272,307)
1,108,814 111,824
(9,432,918) (951,310)
(8,324,104) (839,486)
(8,245,787) (831,588)
53,721,418 5,417,805

45,475,631 4,586,217
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2024 30
2024
2,778,440 280,206
(8,481,785) (855, 388)
18,006,768 1,815,983
(2,098,640) (211,648)
613,029 61,824
90,638 9,141
(79 ®)
(106,789) (10,770)
(69, 430) (7,002)
10,732,152 1,082,338
1,137,389 114,706
(9,580,318) (966,175)
(2,700,123) (272,307)
(11,143,052) (1,123,777)
(410,900) (41,439)
900,434 90,809
489,534 49,370
12,450 1,256

2,299,969 231,952
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ASC 480

2024 30 52,449
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2024 30
AGL Energy Ltd 122,690 1,328,733 2.92
Amotiv Ltd 27,664 290,472 0.64
Ampol Ltd 17,335 560,614 1.23
APA Group 202,050 1,614,380 3.55
Atlas Arteria Stapled 277,421 1,417,621 3.12
Aurizon Holdings 642,379 2,344,683 5.16
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 87,186 2,462,133 5.41
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 51,029 586,323 1.29
BHP Group Limited 37,727 1,610,188 3.54
Brambles Ltd 56,091 815,002 1.79
Coles Group Ltd 75,906 1,292,679 2.84
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 5,200 662,376 1.46
Downer EDI Ltd 152,091 705,702 1.55
Elders Limited 70,182 572,685 1.26
Endeavour Group Ltd of Australia 122,177 616,994 1.36
Flight Centre Travel Group 40,596 819,227 1.80
GPT Group 160,362 641,448 1.41
GWA Group Ltd 66,043 158,503 0.35
Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd 163,523 681,891 1.50
Insignia Financial Ltd 296,256 678,426 1.49
Insurance Australia Group 129,317 923,323 2.03
JB Hi Fi Ltd 11,794 721,911 1.59
Lottery Corp 177,464 899,742 1.98
Macquarie Group Ltd 4,240 867,886 1.91
Medibank Private Ltd 671,238 2,503,718 5.51
National Australia Bank 38,493 1,394,601 3.07
Nine Entertainment 482,636 675,690 1.49
Orora Ltd 333,801 657,588 1.45
Perpetual Ltd 26,145 557,150 1.23
QBE Insurance Group Ltd 109,711 1,907,874 4.20
Scentre Group 615,282 1,919,680 4.22
South32 Ltd 211,618 774,522 1.70
Stockland NPV 129,084 538,280 1.18
Suncorp Group Ltd 109,803 1,911,670 4.20
Telstra Corp 668,552 2,420,158 5.32
Transurban Group 76,803 952,357 2.09
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2024 30

Ventia Services Group Ltd 227,157 870,011 1.91
Vicinity Centres 502,867 930,304 2.05
Wesfarmers Ltd 10,455 681,457 1.50
Westpac Banking 32,684 889,986 1.96
Woodside Energy 33,586 947,462 2.08
Woolworths Ltd 25,223 852,286 1.87
Worleyparsons Ltd 31,540 472,470 1.03

41,882,030 45,130,206 99.24

AUD
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Assets

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

June 30, 2024

Investments, fair value (Cost: AUD4 | 882,030)

Cash

Dividends receivable

Other assets

Total Assetls

Liabilities

Payable for units redeemed

Fees payable

Total Liabilities

Met Assets

Net Asset Value (“NAV"™) per unit - Class AUD Units
(based on Met Assets of AUD45,475,631 and 473,717 units outstanding)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustee

/A

T

Date: oG NebENBER | 2024

771202
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2024

2024

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes: AUD387,830) 2,209,331
Interest income 12,529
Total investment income 2.221.860
Expenses
Administration fees 36,199
Manager fees 11,932
Investment Manager fees 348,714
Aundit fees 49,101
Trustee fees 9,546
Distributor fees 334,384
Transaction fees 33,347
Agent Company fees 47.730
Custodian fees 11,875
Other fees and expenses 46,203
Total fund expenses 929 031
Net investment income 1,292,829
Net realized and change in unrealized gain
Met realized gain on investments in securities 2,098 6440
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities (613,029)
Net realized and change in unrealized gain 1,485,611
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 2,778,440

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2024

2024
AUD
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Met investment income 1,292 829
Met realized gain on investments in securities 2,098,640
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities (613,029}
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 2,778,440
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units {2.700.123)
Capital Transactions
Units issuad 1,108,814
Units redeemed {9.432,218)
Met decrease in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions {8,324,104)
Total decrease in Net Assets {8,245,787)
Net Assels
Beginning of vear 53,721,418
End of year 45,475,631

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial staterments.

10

79/202



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND

Ooooooooooooooooooad

A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustiments to reconcile net increase in Met Assets resulting from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

Met realized gain on investments in securities

Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities

Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable

[ncrease in other assets

Decrease in pavable for investments purchased
Decrease in fees payable

Met cash provided by operating activities
Cash fMows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from umts 1ssued

Payments for units redeemed

Distributions paid to Unitholders

Met cash used in financing activities

Met change in cash
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year
Supplementary information:

Interest received
[Dhvidends received (net of withheolding taxes)

The accompanyving notes form an infegral part of these financial statements.
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AUD

2,778,440

(8,481,785)

18,006,768

(2,008.640)
613,020

00,638
(79)
(106,789)
(69,430)

10,732,152

1,137,389
{9,580.318)

(2,700,123)

(11,143.052)

(410,900)
900,434

489,534
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2024

Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
MNAV per unit, beginning of year 9530
Income from investment operations {B)
Net investment income 2.51
Met realized and change inunrealized gain 208
Total from investment operations 5.49
Distributions {(4.79)
MNAYV per unit, end of year 96.00
Total Retum (A) 5.79%
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average Net Assets (A) (1.95%)
Ratio of net investment income to average Met Assets (A) 2.71%

(A) Total return 1s calculated based on the change in the NAV dunng the yvear and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expenses ratio and net investment income ratio are caleulated
based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the vear, The financial highlights are
reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
caleulated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the vear.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2024

Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund
{the “Trust™), an open-ended umt trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016
{the “Master Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund was constituted by
a supplemental trust deed (the “Supplemental Trust Deed™) dated July 29, 2016, under the laws
of the Cavman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September 28, 2016,

The Fund’s assets are managed on a day-to-day basis by Franklin Templeton Japan Co., Lid
{the “Investment Manager™). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investment management
duties to Franklin Templeton Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment Manager™). International
Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager™) serves as the Fund’s Manager. SMT Fund Services
{Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator™) serves as the Fund’s Administrator.

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an exchange,
ineluding REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles, The Fund will pay attention to liguidity
and will seek to build a liquid portfolio.

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G A S. (Cayman)
Limited (the “Trustee™) is named as Trustee of the Fund.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP™). The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the Fund’s management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiliies and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year, Actual results, including
the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ from those
estimates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the Investment Company

accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™)
946, Financial Services-Investment Companies.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
(Continued)

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy is applied in determination of the value of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occurred on such day, at the
“bid™ price at the close of business on such day. Secunties traded over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if no
sales occwrred on such day, at the “bid” price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Funed accuires securities or other financial instrurments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2024, no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted
prices.

Investment Transactions and Investment Income/Expense

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade-date basis (date the order to buy or sell is
executed). Gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined using the first in first out
cost method.

Interest income/expense on investments held’'sold is accrued as eamed/incurred. Interest earnad
on the Fund’s brokerage account, if any, will be accrued monthly.

Dividend income is recorded gross of any non-reclaimable withholding taxes suffered on an
ex-dividend date basis.

Expenses

Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred,

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities may be held in currencies other than AUD (the “Functional Currency™)
and are translated to the Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial
staternents date (2024 none). Income and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the date on which the income or expense is incurred. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses arising on foreign currency transactions are included in the Statement of
Operations in the vear in which they occur.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market

prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain or loss from investments,

14
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash

The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsud Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) as its
custodian (the “Custodian™). Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited { London Branch), has in
turn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BRH™) as its sub-custodian. Cash compnise
cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at BEH.

Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, transfer, sales, corporation,
capital gains or other taxes pavable by the Fund. In addition, there are no withholding taxes
applicable to distributions by the Fund or to the payment of equity attnbutable to the holder of
redeemable participating units upon redemption of units. In certain jurisdictions other than the
Cavman Islands, foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and interest received by
the Fund. Capital gains denived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from
foreign income or withholding taxes at source. Capital gains tax may be suffered by non-
residents, such as the Fund on the disposal of holdings in foreign junsdictions, In certain
Jurisdictions, these capital gains taxes are required to be determined on a self-assessment basis
and, therefore, such taxes may not be deducted at sowrce by the Fund's brokers on a
“withholding™ basis. The non-resident investors may be obligated to remit the tax on their own
The Fund intends to conduct its affairs such that it will not be subject to income tax in any
Jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial
statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their proportionate share of the Fund’s tax basis
income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty in
tax posiions (Financial Accounfing Standards Board’s ASC 740), which requires management
to determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authorty. The
Investment Manager has determined that there is no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the nonmal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general indemnifications. The
Fund’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not yet occurred.

15
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Equity™, recognizes redemptions as labilities, when the amount and mumber of units
requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may oceur at the time of the
receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the request.
Fedemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of gains/{losses)
pursuant to the Fund’s governing documents. As at June 30, 2024, there were redemptions
payable of AUDS2,449,

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for the
assel or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifving circumstances
that indicate a transaction is not orderly, ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
priontizes the inputs to valuation techmiques used to measure fair value. The herarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
iLevel 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techmdques and broadly refer to the assumptions
that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk, A
financial instrument™s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any
input that is sigmficant to the fir value measurement. The Investment Manager considers
observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are actively
inveolved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy
is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarnily correspond to
the Investment Manager’s perceived nisk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valuad based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded
in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect
illiquiclity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

16
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all,

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2024:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Aszels AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 45,130,206 2 : 45,130,206
Total 45,130,206 - = 45,130,206

There were no transfers between the levels during the year,

. Unit Capital

Class AUD

Units

Mumber of units cutstanding at July 1, 2023 563,700
Units issued during the vear 11,749
Units redeemed during the year {101,732
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2024 473,717

Cine unitholder holds all of the Units attributable to Class AUD Units.

The Units are denominated in AUD. Additional classes of Units may be offered in the future.
Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who is any person, corporation or entity
which is not (1) a citizen or resident of the US, a partnership organized or existing in the US,
or any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or existing in the US. {ii)
resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any object of a charifable trust or
power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company); (1i1) imable to subscnibe for
or hold Umits without violating applicable laws, or {iv) a custodian, norminee, or trustee for
any persorn, corporation or entity described in (1) to (iii) above,

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders.

Class AUD Units were first issued at an initial issue price of AUD100 per Unit. The minimmum
subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of unit is ten units, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.

17
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitheolders, the purchase price per unit will be the
MNAV per Unit of the relevant elass of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscripion day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.

The subscniption day for the Fund shall be each business day and’or such other dav or days that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor appeointed
by the Manager, by no later than 7.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to units in respect of which the unitholder (being the
relevant distributor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm (Tokyvo
time) on the same day; or (ii) in the case of a unitholder requesting units to be repurchased
directly (and not as a distributor appeinted by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo time) on
the relevant repurchase dayv; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee and the Manager,
after consultation with the Admimstrator, may inany particular case determine,

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Atany time and for any reason, the Manager mav, by giving five business davs” notice to all or
any affected unitholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price,

The NAV per Unit is caleulated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund’s assets
and liabilities (including acerued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding.

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any ¢lass
of units of such amount (if any) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day after the last business day of June every
vear and/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distribution Record
Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the vear was on the last business dav of June 2023, There
18 no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such amounts.
Dividends of AUD2 700,123 (with an ex-dividend date of July 3, 2023 were paid on July 6,
2023,

The second Distnbution Record Date of the vear was on the last business day of June 2024,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts. Dividends of AUD2,131,727 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2024) were paid on
July 4, 2024,

18
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
(Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making finanecial or operational decisions.
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companies (a company that controls or is
controlled by the Manager or the Trustee, often one that is in the same business group) are
deemed to be related to the Fund Fees incurred with related parties during the vear are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations, Amounts payable to related parties at the vear end
are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,

SMEBC Nikko Securities Inc., holds 100% of all units in1ssue. Asa result, any actions of SMBC
Mikko Seecurities Ine., can materially impact the Fund.

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per anmum of the
MAV, accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator 1s also entitled to; (a) an establishment fee of US$3.000; (b) an annual fee
of LISS5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund; (¢) an annual fee of US$1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cayman [slands Monetary Authonty; and (d) an annual
fee of USE500 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per anmum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the MAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees
The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,

acerued and caleulated as of each valuation day and pavable monthly in arrears.
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
{Continued)

6. Fees and Expenses (continued)

Distributor Fees
The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
MNAV, acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees payable as at June 30, 2024 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 9.752
Manager fees 926
Investment Manager fees 84,362
Andit fees 44,073
Trustee fees 742
Distributor fees BO. 895
Transaction fees 3.761
Agent Company fees 11,517
Custodian fees 2,871
Other fees and expenses 62,138
301,037

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk
and currency risk), credit sk and hiqudity nisk.

Market Risk

All investments present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this nsk
through a careful selection of investments. The primary element of the Fund’s objective is to
seek to achieve income gain and capital appreciation over the mid to long term based on its
investment strafegy of investing in a portfolio of equities and REITs that are listed on an
exchange in Australia. The Fund’s overall market positions are monitored on a daily basis by
the Investment Manager,

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decline, and
as a result, the NAYV may decline below its imftial principal amount. Also, adverse

developments in an issuer’s economic conditions or such negative events as bankmptey may
cause the value of the equities to decline substantially and may sigrificantly impact the NAV.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
{Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the nisk that as certain assets of the Fund may be invested in securities and
other investments denominated in foreign currencies, the value of such assets may be affected
favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates,

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2024, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monetary assets and
incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. It may
therefore be exposed to currency nsk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure to currency risk.

If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD cumencies, the
Fund may be exposed to nsks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those secunities.

Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund.

Although the Trustee monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an approprate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund mayv use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund. The Custodian 1s
the London branch of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Limited which has a Fitch credit rating of
A-_The sub-custodian is BBEH which has a Fitch credit rating of A+,

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolvency
or liquidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both. Because
all of the Fund’s cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund is subject to credit risk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
obligations to repay amounts owed.

Liquidity Risk

Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rise. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of risk; there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment objective
will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of 1ts business operations
and, if necessary. the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored contimually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2024
(Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)
Liquidity Risk {continued)
The Manager, after consultation with the Investment Manager, may declare a suspension of
the repurchase of units in certain circumstances as deseribed in the section of the Offering
Memorandum headed “Valuations - Suspension of 1ssues, Repurchases and Caloulation of Net
Asset Value™,

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2024, the Fund had no commitments or confingencies.

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to November 6, 2024, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be ssued.

Dividends of AUD2.131,727 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2024) were paid on July 4,
2024,

Effective July 1, 2024 through to November 6, 2024 investors subseribed AUD1,592 464 into
the Fund and investors redeemed AUD1,716,107 from the Fund.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these finanecial statements.

The financial statements were approved on November 6, 2024,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2024

MNominal Fair Value % of
Equities Holding AUD NAY
Australia
AGL Energy Ltd 122,690 1,328,733 292
Amotiv Ltd 27,604 290,472 o4
Ampol Lid 17,335 560,614 1.23
APA Group 202,050 1,614,380 3.55
Atlas Arteria Stapled 277.421 1,417,621 312
Aurizon Holdings 042 379 2.344.683 516
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 87,180 2,462,133 541
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 51,029 580,323 1.29
BHP Group Limited 37,727 1,610,188 3.54
Brambles Ltd 56,091 815.002 1.79
Coles Group Ltd 75,906 1,292.679 284
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 5,200 662,370 1.46
Downer EDI Ltd 152,001 705,702 1.55
Elders Limited TO182 572.685 1.26
Endeavour Group Lid of Australia 122177 616,994 1.36
Flight Centre Travel Group 40,596 819227 1.80
GPT Group 160,362 641,448 1.41
GWA Group Ltd 66,043 158,503 .35
Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd 163,523 681.891 1.50
Insignia Financial Ltd 296,256 678,426 1.49
Insurance Australia Group 129,317 023,323 2.03
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 11,794 721911 1.59
Lottery Corp 177,464 800,742 1.98
Macquarie Group Lid 4,240 BO7.880 1.91
Medibank Private Lid 671,238 2,503,718 551
National Australia Bank 38,493 1,394,601 3.07
Nine Entertainment 482,630 675,69 1.49
Orora Ltd 333,801 657,588 1.45
Perpetual Ltd 26,145 557,150 1.23
JBE Insurance Group Litd 109,711 1,907,874 420
Scentre Group 615,282 1,919,680 422
South3? Ltd 211.618 774,522 1.70
Stockland NPV 129,084 538.280 1.18
Suncorp Group Lid 109,803 1,911,670 420
Telstra Corp 668,552 2,420,158 532
Transurban Group 76,803 052,357 2.09
Ventia Services Group Ltd 227,157 B70.011 1.91
Vicinity Centres 502,867 930,304 2.05
Wesfarmers Lid 10,435 681,457 1.50
Westpac Banking 32,684 BEO.086 1.96
Woodside Energy 33,5806 047,462 2.08

The accompanyving notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2024

{Continued)
Fair

Nominal Value % of
Equities (continued) Holding AUD NAV
Australia (continued)
Woolworths Lid 25,223 852,286 .87
Worleyparsons Ltd 31,540 472470 1.03
Total Australia (Cost: AUD41,882,030) 45,130,206 99,24
Symbol Currency Countiry
AUD Australian Daollar Australia

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2023 30
2023 30
2023
49,308,372
2,3 53,169,578 5,362,152
2 900,434 90,809
28,575 2,882
298,977 30,152
959 97
54,398,523 5,486,091
106,789 10,770
199,849 20,155
6 370,467 37,362
677,105 68,286
53,721,418 5,417,805
NAV
53,721,418

563,700 95.30 9,611

2023 11 27
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2023 30
2023
688,027 2,809,627 283,351
8,016 808
2,817,643 284,159
41,197 4,155
13,782 1,390
402,446 40,587
47,991 4,840
11,026 1,112
385,907 38,919
28,425 2,867
55,130 5,560
13,954 1,407
78,991 7,966
1,078,849 108,802
1,738,794 175,357
(228,956) (23,090)
2,640,300 266,274
2,411,344 243,184

4,150,138 418,541
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30
2023

1,738,794 175,357
(228,956) (23,090)
2,640,300 266,274
4,150,138 418,541
(3,888,556) (392,161)
1,834,794 185,039
(6,712,909) (676,997)
(4,878,115) (491,958)
(4,616,533) (465,577)
58,337,951 5,883,382

53,721,418 5,417,805
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2023 30
2023
4,150,138 418,541
(5,660,251) (570, 836)
12,785,297 1,289,397
228,956 23,090
(2,640,300) (266,274)
36,536 3,685
(838) (85)
(34,484) (3,478)
8,865,054 894,041
1,819,676 183,514
(6,524,716) (658,018)
(3,888,556) (392,161)
(8,593,596) (866,664)
271,458 27,377
628,976 63,432
900,434 90,809
7,178 724
2,846,164 287,036
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94.67

2.94
4.00

6.94

(6.31)

95.30

7.87

(1.96 )
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2016 29

2016 29
2016 28
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ASC 740
more

likely than not

50

ASC 480
ASC 480

2023 30 199,849

ASC 820
ASC 820
ASC 820

ASC 820
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53,169,578 53,169,578
53,169,578 53,169,578
2022 616,253
19,594
(72,147)
2023 30 563,700
100
10 10
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2022

3,888,556 2022 2022

2023

2,700,123 2023 2023
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0.70

0.10

0.025

2023 30

10,369
1,103
99,054
44,620
883
94,983
4,154
13,569
4,590
97,142
370,467
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2023 11 27

2,700,123 2023 2023

2023 2023 11 27 139,216
4,279,234

2023 11 27
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
June 30, 2023

2023

Notes AUD
Assets
Investments, fair value { Cost: AUDA49,308,372) 23 53,109,578
Cash 2 900,434
Receivable for urts 1ssued 28.575
Dividends receivable 208,977
Oither assels 959
Total Assets 54,398,523
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 106,789
Payable for units repurchased 199,840
Fees pavable 6 370,467
Total Liabilities 677,105
MNet Assets 53:'?2'!:413
MNet Asset Value (“NAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
(basad on Net Assets of AUDS3,721 418 and 563,700 units outstanding) ALID9S 30

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustes

(i T

EDRED ATD

Date: November 27, 2023
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the yvear ended June 30, 2023

2023

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes: AUDG8E.027) 2 B09 627
Interest income 8016
Total investment income 2817643
Expenses
Administration faes 41,197
Manager fees 13,782
Investment Manager fees 402,446
Audit fees 47,901
Trustes fees 11,026
Distnibutor fees 385,907
Transaction fees 28.425
Agent Company fees 55130
Custodian fees 13,954
Other fees and expenses 78,991
Total fund expenses 1,078,849
Net investment income 1,738,7M
MNet realized and change in unrealized gain
Wet realized loss on investments in securties {228.956)
Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 2,640,300
Met realized and change in unrealized gain 2,411,344
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,150,138

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial staterments,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2023

2023
AUD
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Net investment income 1,738,794
Met realized loss on investments in secunties {228,956)

Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 2,640,300

Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,150,138
Distributions to Unitholders

Class AUD Units (3,888,550)
Capital Transactions

Units issuad 1.834,794
Units redeemed (6,712.909)
Met decrease in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions (4878.11%)
Total decreass in Net Assets (4.616,533)
Met Assets

Beginning of year 58,337,951
End of year 53,721,418

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2023

2023
AUD
Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,150,138
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets resulting from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
Purchase of investments (56602517
Pro¢eeds from sale of investments 12, 785297
Met realized loss on investments in securnties 228956
Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities (2,640,300
Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable 30,5306
Increase in other assets (838
Decrease in fees payvable (34.484)
Met cash provided by operating activities 8.865.054
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from umts 1ssued 1,819,676
Payments for units redeemed (6,524.716)
Distributions paid to Unitholders (3,888,550)
Met cash used in financing activities (8,503 506)
Met change in cash 271,458
Cash at beginning of year 628,976
Cash at end of vear 900,434
Supplementary information:
Interest received 7178
Dividends received (net of withholding taxes) 2,846,164

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2023
Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
MNAV per unt, beginning of vear 24.67
Income from investment operations (B)
Met investment income 294
Met realized and change in unrealized gain 4.00
Total from investment operations 6.94
Distributions {6.31)
MAV per unit, end of vear 95.30
Total Return (A) T.87%
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average Net Assets (A) {1.96%)
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 3.16%

(A} Total retumn is caleulated based on the change in the NAY during the vear and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expenses ratio and net investment income ratio are caleulated
based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the yvear. The financial lighlights are
reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information 1s
calculated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the vear.

The accormpanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund
(the “Trust™), an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016
{the “Master Trust Deed”), under the laws of the Cayman Islands, The Fund was constituted by
a supplemental trust deed (the “Supplemental Trust Deed™) dated July 29, 2016, under the laws
of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September 28, 2016,

The Fund’s assets are managed on a day-to-day basis by Franklin Templeton Japan Co., Ltd
{the “Investment Manager™). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investmeant management
duties to Franklin Templeton Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment Manager™). International
Management Services Lid, (the “Manager™) serves as the Fund’s Manager. SMT Fund Services
{Ireland) Limited {the “Administrator™) serves as the Fund’s Administrator,

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medivum to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia, The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an exchange,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention to liquidity
and will seck to build a liquid portfalio,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G.A.S, (Cayman)
Limited (the “Trustee™) is named as Trustee of the Fund.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (1.5, GAAP™), The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U. 5. GAAP requires the Fund's management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting vear. Actual results, including
the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ from those
estimmates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the Investment Company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™)
9406, Financial Services-Investment Companies.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
(Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy is applied in determination of the value of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occurred on such day, at the
“bid” price at the close of business on such day, Securities traded over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if no
sales ocourred on such day, at the “bid” price at the ¢lose of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2023, no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted

prices.

Investment Transactions and Investment Income/Expense

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade-date basis (date the order to buy or sell 15
executed). Gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined using the first in first out
cost method,

Interest income/expense on investments held/sold is accrued as earned/incurred. Interest earned
on the Fund’s brokerage account, if any, will be acerued monthly.

Dividend income is recorded gross of any non-reclaimable withholding taxes suffered on an
ex-dividend date basis.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred.

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so duning the year ended June 30, 2023, assets and habilities may be
held in cwrrencies other than AUD (the “Functional Cuwrency™) and are translated to the
Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial statement date, Income
and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on which the income
or expense 15 newred, Realized and unrealized gains and losses ansing on foreign currency
transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in the year in which they ocour.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arsing from changes in market

prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain or loss from imvestments,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash

The Trustee has appointed Sumtomo Mitsw Trust Bank, Limited {London Branch) as its
custodian (the “Custodian™). Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited {London Branch), has in
tum, appointed Brown Brothers Harmiman & Co. (“BBH”) as its sub-custodian. Cash comprise
cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at BEH.

Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains
or other taxes pavable by the Fund. In certain junsdictions other than the Cavman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source ondividends and interest received by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign incomes
or withholding taxes at source, Capital gains tax may be suffered by non-residents, such as the
Fund on the disposal of holdings in foreign jurisdictions. In eertain jurisdictions, these capital
gains taxes are required to be determined on a self-asszssment basis and, therefore, such taxes
may not be deducted at source by the Fund's brokers on a “withholding™ basis. The non-resident
investors may be obligated to remit the tax on their own. The Fund intends to conduct its affairs
such that it will not be subject to income tax in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for
income taxes has been made in the financial statements, Unitholders may be taxed on their
proportionate share of the Fund’s tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty in
tax positions (Financial Accounting Standards Board ASC 740), which requires management
to determine whether a tax position of the Fund 1s more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recogrized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fiftv percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authonty. The
Investment Manager has determined that there 15 no effect on the financial statements being
under this authontative guidance,

Guarantees andfor Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that containa variety of representations, which provide general indemnifications. The
Fund’s maxirmum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not vet occurred,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Equity”, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount and mumber of units
requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may oceur at the time of the
receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the request.
Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of gains/(losses)
pursuant to the Fund’s govermning documents. As at June 30, 2023, there were redemptions
pavable of AUD199 849

J. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

ASC B20, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for the
asset or lability have significantly decreased and provides guidance onidentifving circumstances
that indicate a transaction is not orderly. ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
{Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priorty to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements),

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Lewvel 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
direetly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active,

- Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable,

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions
that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A
financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager considers
observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are actively
involved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy
is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to
the Investment Manager's perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or altemative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded
in active markets and/or are subject to transter restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect
illiquadity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all,

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2023;

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Agmels AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equitias 53,169,578 - - 53,160,578
Total 53,169,578 = - 533,169,578

There were no transfers between the levels duning the year.

Unit Capital
Class AUD
Units
Mumber of units outstanding at July 1, 2022 616,253
Units issued during the year 19,504
Units redeemed during the vear (72.147)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2023 563,700

One umitholder holds all of the Units attributable to Class AUD Units.

The Units are denominated in AUD. Additional classes of Units may be offered in the future.
Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who is any person, corporation or entity
which 15 not (1) a citizen or resident of the US, a partnership organized or existing in the US,
of any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or existing in the US, (ii)
resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any olyect of a charitable trust or
power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company): (iii) unable to subscribe for
or hold Umits without violating applicable laws, or {iv) a custodian, nomings, or trustee for
any person, corporation or enfity descnbed in (1) to () above,

The Manager may determine to 1ssue one or more classes of Umits of the Fund without prnior
notice to or wrtten consent of the unithol ders.

Class AUD Units were first issued at an inifial issue price of AUD100 per Unit. The minimum
subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of umit is ten wnts, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital {continued)

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the
MAV per Unit of the relevant class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or davs that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund,

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchasad in their capacity as a distributor appointed
by the Manager, by nolater than 7.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to umts in respect of which the umtholder (being the
relevant distributer) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo
time} on the same day: or (i) in the case of a umitholder requesting units to be repurchased
directly (and not as a distributor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo time) on
the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee and the Manager,
after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular case determine.

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days that
the Manager may from time to time determing in respect of the Fund.

Atany time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days’ notice to all or
any affected unitholders, repurchase unts of the Fund at the applicable repurchase pnce.

The MAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund's assets
and liabilities (ncluding accmed fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding.

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amownt (if any) as shall be determinad by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day afler the last business day of June every
vear and/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distnbution Record
Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the vear was on the last business day of June 2022, There
15 no guarantee that any future distnbutions will be paid or 1f paid, will be paid in such amounts,
Dividends of AUDB3,888,556 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2022) were paid on July 6,
2022,

The second Distribution Record Date of the year was on the last business day of June 2023,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts. Dividends of AUD2. 700,123 (with an ex-dividend date of July 3, 2023) were paid on
Taly 6, 2023,
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if ong party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise signficant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions,
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business, The Manager, Trustee and related companies (a company that controls or 1
controlled by the Manager or the Trustee, often one that is in the same business group) are
deemed to be related to the Fund. Fees incwred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations. Amounts pavable to related parties at the vear end
are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

SMBC Mikko Securities Ing., holds 100%6 of all units in issue. Asa result, any actions of SMBC
Mikko Securities Inc., can matenally impact the Fund,

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
MNAV, acerued and caleulated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in amrears.

The Administrator 15 also entitled to; {a) an establishment fee of USE5.000; (b) an annual fee
of USS5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in conneetion to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund, (¢} an annual fee of US$1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cavman Islands Monetary Authority; and (d) an annual
fee of USE500 in comnection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAY,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and pard monthly in arrears,

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the WAV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterl v in arrears.

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees
The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payvable monthly in arrears.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2023
{Continued)

6. Fees and Expenses (continued)

Distributor Fees
The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAV,
acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
WAV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears,

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees pavable as at June 30, 2023 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 10,369
Manager fzes 1,103
Investment Manager fees 99,054
Andit fees 44,620
Trustee fees HE3
Distributor fees 04983
Transaction fees 4.154
Agent Company fees 13,569
Custodian fees 4590
Other fees and expenses 97.142
370,467

7. OIf Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks: market risk (ineluding price nsk
and currency risk), credit nisk and hgquadity risk.

Market Risk

All investments present a nisk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this nsk
through a careful selection of investments. The primary element of the Fund’s objective is to
seek to achieve income gain and capital appreciation over the mid to long term based on its
investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of equities and REITs that are listed on an
exchange in Australia. The Fund's overall market positions are monitored on a daily basis by
the Investment Manager,

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decline, and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its initial principal amount. Also, adverse

developments in an issuer’s econommie conditions or such negative events as bankmptey may
cause the value of the equities to decline substantially and may sigmficantly impact the NAV.
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June 30, 2023
{Continued)

7. Ol Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the nisk that as certain assets of the Fund may be invested in securities and
other investments denominated in foreign currencies, the value of such assets may be affected
favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates,

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2023, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign cumency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monestary assets and
incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. It may
therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates, The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure to currency risk,

If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be exposed to nisks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those securities.

Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund.

Although the Trustee monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from tfime to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolvency
or iquidation of an institution, there 1s no certainty that, in the event of'a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both, Because
all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund is subject to credit sk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
abligations to repay amounts owed.

Liquidity Risk
Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rse. Investment in the

Fund involves a degree of risk; there can be no assurance that the Fund®s investment objective
will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continmally by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.
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{Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)
Liquidity Risk (continued)
The Manager, after consultation with the Investment Manager, may declare a suspension of
the repurchase of units in certain circumstances as described in the section of the Offering
Memorandum headed “Valuations - Suspension of Issues, Repurchases and Caleulation of Net
Asset Value™,

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at Iune 30, 2023, the Fund had no commitments or contingencies,

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to Movember 27, 2023, which is the
date the financial statements were available to be 1ssued,

Dividends of AUD2,700,123 (with an ex-dividend date of July 3, 2023} were paid on July 6,
2023,

Effective July 1, 2023 through to Movember 27, 2023 investors subscribed AUDIZ9.216 into
the Fund and investors redeemed ATUD4.279 234 from the Fund.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on November 27, 2023,

22

123/202



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2024 10
45,421,712.60 4,580,779,716
180,107.25 18,163,816
45,241,605.35 4,562,615,900
471,620
95.93 9,675
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2023 12 31

2023 2022

2,158,914 331,696 1,903,685 292,482

4 526,807 80,939 667,962 102,626
293,139 45,038 126,001 19,359
9 279,944 43,011 290,659 44,657

3,258,804 500,683 2,988,307 459,123

5 251,974 38,713 258,400 39,701

251,974 38,713 258,400 39,701

3,510,778 539,396 3,246,707 498,824

55,022 8,454 103,513 15,904
694,169 106,652 842,251 129,403
777,688 119,484 702,601 107,948

1,333,899 204,940 948,342 145,703

2,860,778 439,530 2,596,707 398,958

6 50,000 7,682 50,000 7,682
600,000 92,184 600,000 92,184
650,000 99,866 650,000 99,866

3,510,778 539,396 3,246,707 498,824

2024 28

128/202



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 12 31
2023 2022
8,324,352 1,278,953 8,629,994 1,325,912
4 (55,868) (8,584) (214,637) (32,977)
8,268,484 1,270,370 8,415,357 1,292,935
1,181,172 181,475 732,448 112,533
51,219 7,869 51,860 7,968
9,500,875 1,459,714 9,199,665 1,413,437
7,8,9 6,925,470 1,064,029 6,804,376 1,045,424
2,575,405 395,685 2,395,289 368,012
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2023 12 31
2021 12 31 50,000 7,682 600,000 92,184 650,000 99,866
2,395,289 368,012 2,395,289 368,012
(2,395,289)  (368,012) (2,395,289)  (368,012)
2022 12 31 50,000 7,682 600,000 92,184 650,000 99,866
2,575,405 395,685 2,575,405 395,685
(2,575,405)  (395,685) (2,575,405) (395,685)
2023 12 31 50,000 7,682 600,000 92,184 650,000 99,866
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2023 12 31
2023 2022

2,575,405 395,685 2,395,289 368,012
19,511 2,998 15,614 2,399
55,868 8,584 140,882 21,645
85,287 13,103 (223,141)  (34,283)
(167,138)  (25,679) 167,704 25,766
10,715 1,646 (140,231)  (21,545)
(48,491) (7,450) 84,851 13,037
(148,082)  (22,751) (88,986)  (13.672)
75,087 11,536 (128,920)  (19,807)
2,458,162 377,672 2,223,062 341,551
(13,085) (2,010) (18,539) (2,848)
(13,085) (2,010) (18,539) (2,848)
(2,189,848)  (336,448) (2,831,570)  (435,042)
255,229 39,213 (627,047)  (96,340)
1,903,685 292,482 2,530,732 388,822
2,158,914 331,696 1,903,685 292,482
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2023 12 31
1974
30 2023
1985 12 12 2021
1988 13 2010 2024
1994 27
2021 12
2004 2021
2006 12 28
IMS
Kyl 1102
61
2023 12 31 22 2022 22
1ASB

IFRS
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2023
2023

SH 2001 20
A.S. 1978 27
N.D. 1978 27
N.S. 1978 27

1979 10 26
IMS 2012 27
IMS 2013 25

2023 2022 12 31

90 180
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2023 2022
0 30 209,518 284,292
31 60 52,579 52,344
61 90 81,472 69,612
91 183,238 261,714
526,807 667,962

2023 2022
962,841 1,146,878
(436,034) (478,916)
526,807 667,962

2023 2022
478,916 338,034
55,868 214,637
(128,926) (25,801)
30,176 (47,954)

436,034 478,916
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2023

341,637 421,491 242,987 156,891 1,163,006
10,179 2,906 13,085
341,637 431,670 245,893 156,891 1,176,091
197,176 395,118 198,987 113,325 904,606
3,612 6,230 5,313 4,356 19,511
200,788 401,348 204,300 117,681 924,117

2023 12 31
140,849 30,322 41,593 39,210 251,974

2022

341,637 406,123 239,816 156,891 1,144,467
15,368 3,171 18,539
341,637 421,491 242,987 156,891 1,163,006
193,472 392,616 194,420 108,484 888,992
3,704 2,502 4,567 4,841 15,614
197,176 395,118 198,987 113,325 904,606

2022 12 31
144,461 26,373 44,000 43,566 258,400

2023 2022

80,000 96,000 96,000
41,667 2022 41,667 50,000 50,000

2021
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18,410
18,776 19,151
2023 2022
134,057 227,187
134,057
134,057 361,244
2023 12 31
98,077 2022 75,059
2023 12 31
2023 2022
451,610 516,291
2023 2022
279,944 290,659
2023 12 31 5,438,235 2022
5,123,865 98,077 2022 75,059
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2023 2022
8,324,352 8,629,994
4 (55, 868) (214,637)
8,268,484 8,415,357
1,181,172 732,448
51,219 51,860
9,500,875 9,199,665
5,536,312 5,390,893
341,357 334,962
298,821 227,968
223,854 219,031
138,296 170,855
144,147 143,480
89,508 104,452
51,660 89,139
13,734 36,676
26,342 30,949
32,194 30,161
19,511 15,614
9,734 10,196
6,925,470 6,804,376

2,575,405 2,395,289
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2023
(stated in Uniied Siater dollars)
Note 2023 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents : 2.158.914 1,903,685
Accounts receivable 4 526,807 667,962
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 293,139 126,001
Due from affiliated companies 9 279944 290,659
3,258,804 2,988.307
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 251,974 258,400
251,974 238,400
Total assets US$  3510,778 3,246,707
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Current liabilitics
Accounts payable and acerued cxpenses 55,022 103,513
Unearned income and payable to clients 694,169 842,251
Staff bonuses payable 777,688 702,601
Dividends payable 1,333,899 048,342
2,860,778 2.596,707
Shareholder's equity
Sharc capital 6 50,000 30,000
Retained camings 600,000 600,000
650,000 650,000
Total liabilities and shareholder®s equiry USs 3,510,778 3,246,707

See accompanying notes 1o the consolidated financial staremanis,

Approved on behalf of the Board on March 28, 2024

Gary Butler

Director

bk
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Incoma

For the vear ended December 31, 2023
{stated in United States dollars)

MNote 2023 2022
Income
Revenue . 8,324 352 8,629.994
Bad debis written off 4 {55,868) (214.637)
5,268,484 8415357
Other i{lmrrnc 1,181,172 732,448
Rental income 51,219 51,860
9,500,875 9,199,663
Expenses
Administration expenses 7.2.9 6,925,470 6,804,376
Net income uss 2,575,405 2395289

See uccompanying notes to the consolidated finameial statements.

144/202



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2023
(stated in United States dollars)

Share Retained

capital camings Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 50,000 600,000 650,000
Met income - 2,395,289 2,395,289
Dividends declared = (2,39528%) (2.395289)
Balance at December 31, 2022 0,000 600,000 650,000
Met mcome - 2,575,405 2,575,405
Dividends declared - (2,575,405) (2,575405)
Balance at December 31, 2023 Uss 50,000 600,000 650,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finemeial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the vear ended December 31, 2023
fstated in United States dollars)
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2023 2022
Operating activitics
Wet income 2,5754035 2,395,289
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation 19,511 15,614
Movement in provision for doubtful aceounts 55,868 140,882
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by
operations:
Accounts receivable 85,287 (223,141)
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (167,138) 167,704
Due from affiliated companics 10,715 {140,231}
Accounts payable and acorued expenses (48,491) 84,851
Uneamed income and payable to clients (148,082) {88,986)
Staff bonuses payable 75,087 {128,920}
Net cash provided by operating activities 2458162 2,223,062
Investing activities
Purchase of Nxed assets (13,085) {18,539)
Net cash used in investing activitics (13,083) (18,539)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (2,1589,848) (2,831,570)
Increase (Decrease) in cash and eash equivalents during year 255,229 (627,047)
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 1,903,685 2,550,732
Cash and cash equivalents end of year Uss 2,158,914 1,903,685

See accompanying notes 1o the consolidared financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
MNotes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
(stated in United States dollars)

1. Incorporation and background information

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Act (2025 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on August 30, 1974 and provides company and insurance
management and corporate secretarial services. On December 12, 1983, the Company was licensed
under Section 4 (5) of the Companies Management Act (2021 Revision) to carry on the business of
company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13, 1988, the Company was
licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Act 2010 (2024 Revision), to carry on the business
of insurance management in or within the Cayman Islands. On July 27, 1994, the Company was
licensed under Section 12 of The Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) to camry on the business of
mutual fund administration. On June 7, 2004 the Company was licensed under the Banks and Trust
Companics Aet (2021 Revision), to carry on trust business from within the Cayman Islands. On
December 28, 2006, the Company surrendered its Companies Managemenl Licence.

The Company is & wholly owned subsidiary of The IMS Group Ltd., 2 company also incorporated
in the Cavman [slands.

The financial results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (thc “Group™) are
consolidated at year end to form the Group.

The registered office of the Company is 3* Floor Harbour Centre, George Town, P.O. Box 61, Grand
Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Tslands.

The Group had 22 employees as at December 31, 2023 (2022: 22),

2. Basis of presentation
fa) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared by the Group in accordance with the *International
Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medivm-sized Entities (“IFRS for SMEs™) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™). The principal accounting policies
applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated,

f& Gaing concern

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is nol aware of any material uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. “Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

¢} Bagis of measwrement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 20235
{stared in Unired States dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued)
fd) Functional and preseniation currency

The Group's functional and prescntation currency is the United States dollar ("US5™) and not
the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group's operations are
primarily conducted in United States dollars.

f2) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty

When preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements, management makes a number
of judgements, estimates and assumplions about the recognition and measurement of assets,
lighilities, revenue and expenses.

Stgnificant management judgement

There were no significant judzements made by the management during the vear,

Estimation wncertaingy

Estimates during the year are in relation to accounts receivable as described in note 3(c).
{fi Corresponding figures

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to (he current year presentation.
fg) Capital management

The Group's regulator, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (the “Authority™), sets and
menitors capital requirements for the Group under the Monetary Authority Law (2021
Revision), the Companics Management Act (2024 Revision), the Insurance Act, 2010, the
Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) and the Bank and Trust Companies Act (2021 Revision).
The Group is required to have a minimum net worth of C1$400,000 (USS500,000) and has a 3
month filing deadline after year end date, The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base
to sustain future development of the business. The Group has complicd with all imposed capital
requirements throughout the year, and there were no material changes to the Group's
management of capital during the year.

iy New Srandards effecrive for anmual period beginning I January 2023

There are no new standards or amendments effective for annual periods beginning 1 January
2023 that will have a significant impact to the Group.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
(stated in United Srates dollars)

3. Material accounting palicies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements. There have been no changes to accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as follows:

{a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries

Company Business Date of incorperation/addition

SH Corporate Services Ltd Registered Office Services April 20, 2001
A8, Nominees Ltd.* MNominee Company January 27, 1978
MN.D. Nomines Ltd. ® Nominee Company January 27, 1978
M.5. Nominee Ltd.* Momines Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Limited*  Nomines Company October 26, 1979
IMS Trustees Ltd * Trustee Services April 27, 2012
IMS Liquidations Lid. Liquidation Services January 235, 2013

* These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established to act only in a
nominge capacity and have not traded in their own right during the years ended December
31,2023 and 2022,

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commenees o the date that control ceases. The Group accounts for business
combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The
consideration is generally measured at fair value, &5 arc the identifizble net assets acquired.

{b) Financial assels and labilities

Financial instruments are initially measured at the transaction price (this includes transaction
cost except in the initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities that will be measured at
fair value through profit or loss). If, however the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction
it is then measured at the present value of the future payments, discounted at 2 market related
interest rate.

149/202



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents

December 31, 2023
(stated in United Siates dollars)

3. Material accounting policies (continued)
fc) Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables represent amounts due from clients and related parties for services
performed in the normal course of business. Most sales are made on the basis of normal credit
terms. and the receivables do not bear interest. Where credit is extended beyond normal credit
terms, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the clfective interest method. Other
receivables are considered past due after 90 to 180 days. At the end of each reporting period,
the carrying amounts of accounts receivable are reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence that the amounts are not recoverable. If so, an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

i Revenue Recognition

The Group recognises revenue in the amount expected to be reccived for services supplied ata
point in time or over time as contractual performance obligations are fulfilled and control of
services passes to the customer,

Where the contractual performance obligalions are satisfizd over time and revenue is recognised
over lime.

Where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer. This is at the point where the
service is delivered to the customer and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the service.

Natwre of services

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Group generates its
revenue.

(1) Professional services

Fees gencrated from a renge of professional services including directorship services,
captive insurance management services, trustee services and anti-money laundering
services.

fif} Managemeni fee from related parly
Fees generated from the provision of administration scervices to a related party.
fiif) Registered office services

Fees penerated from the provision of registered office services.

10
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Mates to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
(stated fn United States dollars)

3. Material accounting policies (continued)
(d) Revenue Recognition (contimsed)
Performance obligations and revenue recagnition policies

The Group recognizes revenue from the provision of fiduciary and registered office services to
client companies, The specific services required involve the provision of 2 director to act in his
fiduciary capacity for client companies as well as the provision of 2 client company registered
office for a set annual fee. In addition, as part of the contractual terms, client companies also

require corporate serviees throughout the financial year on the basis of fees specified in the
conlract.

fe} Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statememts of financial position date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are ranslated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction,
Any resulting exchange gains or losses arc crediled or debited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

tfi Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to marurity of three months or less.

(gl Property, plant and eguipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expected useful lives of the assets using the

respective methods:
Office building 2.5% p.a. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20% p.a.  Straight Line Method
Fumniture and cquipment 10% p.a.  Reducing Balance
Leasehold improvements 10% pa. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the vear in which they are identified,

(h) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leascs.

11
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD,
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
fstated in United States dollars)

3. Material accounting policies (continued)
(1) Income recogmition and fees billed in advance

Management fees are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period for which services are provided.

Unearned income and payable to clients comprise funds received from clients as prepayments
for services to be performed in future years.

(i Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the accrual
basis.

k) Employee bengfits
(1) Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a
post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan docs not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement ol comprehensive income as
incurred.

(i)  Short-term bengfits

Short-tcrm cmployee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected o be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

T} Assets under administration

In the normal course of business, the Group provides fiduciary services by acting as trustee of
“Trusts. The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group’s management are not incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements.

4. Accounts Receivable

The nature of the Group's exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies, and processes for
managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior vear. The Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk ic the carrving value of its financial assets, The Group establishes an
allowance for bad and doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
accounts receivable.
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4. Accounts Receivable (continued)

The Group manages credit risk in respect of accounts receivables by performing periodic reviews
of outstanding customer balances. Management does not expect any significant counterparties to
fail to meet their obligations. Management believes that unimpaired amounts that are past due more

than 30 days are still collectible in full.

The Group’s aging of accounts receivables at the reporting date was:

2023 2022
0 to 30 days 209,518 284,292
31w 60 days 52,579 52344
61 to 90 days 81472 69,612
More than 91 days 183,238 261,714
Uss 520,307 667,962
The Group's accounts receivables at the reporting date were:
2023 2022
Gross accounts receivable 952,841 1,146,878
Provision for doubtful accounts (436,034) (478.916)
USS 526,807 667,962
Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year 478,916 338,054
Charge to statement of comprehensive income 55,868 214,637
Recoveries of doubtful debts (128.926) (25,801)
Bad debts written off (recovered) 30,176 (47,934)
USS 436,034 478,916
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INTEENATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
(stated in Uinited States doliars)

5. FProperty, plant and equipment

Office  Computer Furniture & Leaschold
2023 building  equipment  equipment  improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 421,491 242,987 156,891 1,163,006
of year
Additions - 10,179 2.906 - 13,085
_lf!alanne at end of vear 341,637 431,670 245,893 156,891 1,176,091
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 197,176 393,118 198,987 113,325 904606
of year
Charge for year 3,612 6,230 5313 4,356 19,511
Balance at end of yvear 200,788 401,348 204,300 117,681 924,117
Net book value at
December 31, 2023 USS 140,849 30,322 41,593 39,210 251,974
Office  Compwer Fumiture & Leasehold
2022 building equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 406,123 239816 156,891 1,144 467
of year
Additions - 15,368 3171 - 18,539
Balance at end of year 341,637 421,491 242,987 156,891 1,163,006
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 193.472 392,616 194,420 108,484 888,992
of year
Charge for vear 3,704 2,502 4 567 4,841 15,614
Balance at end of year 197,176 395,118 198,987 113,323 204,606
MNet book value at
December 21,2022 USS 144,461 26,375 44,000 43,566 238,400

14

154/202



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTEENATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
(staded in United States dollars)

6. Share capital

2023 2022
Authorised:
80,000 shares of CI31 each Uss 96,000 96000
Issued and fully paid:
41,667 shares {2022: 41,667) USE 50,000 50,000
7. Leases

The Group has a lease for its operating premises, a floor of an office building. The Group classifies
this lease as an operating lease, the lease is for a period of 3 years commencing 1 August 2021. The
rent pavable under the lease is US$18,410 per month for the period of the lease for the first vear,
US518.776 per month for the second year and US$19,151 per month for the third vear of the lease.

The lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to
sublet the asset to another party, the premises can only be used by the Group. Leases may only be
cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fiee.

The table below describes the natre of the Group's leasing activities:

Future minimum lease payments

The total of future minimum lease payments under the lease may be analysed as follows:

2023 2022

Less than ons vear 134,057 227187
Gireater than one year bul less than five vears - 134,057
Uss 154,057 361.244

15
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December 31, 2023
(stated in United Stares dollars)

8. Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Island Heritage Retirement Plan, a defined contribution pension
scheme. The Group is required to match each employee’s contribution on a one to one basis up to
5% of the employee’™s annual salary. During the vear ended December 31, 2023, the Group
contributed US398,077 (2022: US$75,059).

9. Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group eamed the following administration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2023 2022
Corporate Filing Services Lid. USRS 451,610 516,291
Amounts due from related affiliates are as follows:

2025 2022
Corporate Filing Services Lid. Uss 279944 280,639

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group paid USS5,4538,235 (2022: 1/S85,125.865) in
shori-term emplovment benefits and USE9E.077 (2022: USE75,059) in long-term emplovment
benefits to kev management personnel.

10. Contingencies

The Group, in its fiduciary capacity, may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. In the opinion of the Directors, which is based on the advice of the Group's legal counsel,
no contingency provisions are required at 31 December 2023 (2022: UJSENIl).

11. Subsequent events

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 28, 2024 which is the date that the consolidated financial
staternents were available to be issued.

16

156/202



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2023
fstated in United States dollars)

12. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income — Detailed

Note 2023 2022
Income
Management Fees 8,324,352 8,629,994
Bad debts written off 4 {35,863) (214,637)
8,268,484 8,413,357
Other income 1,181,172 732 448
Rental income 31,219 51,860
9,500,873 9,199 663
Expenses
Salaries and related costs 5,536,312 5,390,893
Rent Expense 341,357 334,962
Office supplics and sundries 258,821 227,968
Government Fees 223,854 219,031
Professional Fees 158,296 170,855
Insurance 144,147 143,480
Utilities 29,508 104,452
Advertising and Marketing 51,660 89,139
Subsecriptions 13,734 36,676
Repairs and Maintenance 26,342 30,949
Donations 32,194 30,161
Depreciation 19,511 15,614
Bank charges 9,734 10,196
6,925.470 6,804,376
Net income uss 2,575,405 2,395,289
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2024 10 531,915 8,869
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2024 10 62,992,338 105 271
1995
2024 10 10
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Independent auditor' s report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Austraian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at 30 June 2024, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2024;

the schedule of investments as at 30 June 2024;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended,;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financia statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
6 November 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Directors of International Management Services Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services Ltd. (the “Company”),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholder's equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium- Sized Entities (“1FRS for
SMES").

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for the Company's directors as abody for regulatory filing purposes
only. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“I1SAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Satements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as awhole are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered

meateria if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financia statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Grant Thornton
George Town
Grand Cayman
March 28, 2024
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I ndependent auditor's report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2023, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2023;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2023;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
November 27, 2023
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